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“Wineglass brand, Symbol of Quality”

The	wineglass	brand	was	first	registered	in	1922	and	used	at	
Newcastle Waters Station by the owners at the time, John 
Lewis & Co. The brand does more than just identify cattle 
produced by Consolidated Pastoral Company, it has become 
an internationally recognised symbol of quality.

Wineglass Brand...
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2012 Highlights
99,60571,91910%
Record  
Brandings

Record  
Sales

Lower cost  
per head  



Who we are
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Consolidated Pastoral Company (CPC) is an Australian based 
Agrifood business with an enterprise value of $668 million.  
It owns and operates a portfolio of 19 cattle stations with  
more than 360,000 head of cattle across 5.6 million hectares  
of land in Australia. 

CPC was formed in 1983 with the purchase of Newcastle 
Waters Station and some smaller Northern Territory 
holdings from Ashburton Pastoral Company. Since that time, 
strategically located properties have been purchased in 
Western Australia, the Northern Territory and Queensland.

Concentration on the vast grazing areas across northern 
Australia has enabled successful drought management, 
market flexibility, easy access to export markets and low cost 
production of high quality grass fed, lot fed and export cattle.

The company also holds a 50% interest in a joint venture 
which owns and operates two cattle feedlots in Indonesia 
and a Joint Venture partnership in China. 

CPC’s direct sales channels primarily involve selling cattle 
and beef to Asian consumer markets, domestic feedlots or 
processors, and exporting live cattle. 

Private equity firm Terra Firma are our major shareholder.

$668M 360K 5.6M
Enterprise Value* Head of Cattle Hectares of Land

Previous Pages: Bullocks fattening at Comely Station
Opposite Page: Young stud bull, Allawah Stud

*Enterprise	value	is	defined	as	net	assets	excluding	cash,	cash	equivalents	borrowings	and	security	deposits.
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Our strategy

Our strategy is to transform the 
company over the next three years 
from being a traditional farm led 
producer to a more strategically 
and commercially focussed 
market making organisation which 
understands our markets and 
produces the right product at the 
right time in the right location to 
meet our customers’ needs. 
To do this, we will align our 
operations to our markets and 
customers, and improve our 
operational performance. To help 
execute the strategic plan  
we have developed separate 
roadmaps for each element of the 
business. The key highlights of the 
roadmaps are: 
 
Operations Optimisation  
Key initiatives are reducing the 
age profile of our herd, increasing 
number of heads turned off and 
reducing turnoff age, expanding 
cattle segregation on breeder 
blocks and achieving operating cost 
rationalisation. These initiatives 

CPC’s vision is to be a world class,  
market-focussed producer of high quality,  
grass fed cattle and a quality beef supplier  
to diversified markets.

will reduce mortality rates, increase 
brandings, lower mustering costs 
and create better market-making 
opportunities while continually 
improving animal welfare 
standards and maximising financial 
performance at the property level.  

Domestic Markets  
Key initiatives are to increase our 
relationships with domestic retailers 
and feedlotters, increase our MSA 
and organic sales while improving 
our logistics capabilities. This will 
lead to better products, higher 
premium for quality and logistics 
cost optimisation.  
 
Indonesia  
In the short term we are maximising 
sales in Indonesia from dedicated 
properties targeting the Indonesian 
market. Over the medium to longer 
term we will position ourselves for a 
rebound in the market and consider 
what infrastructure is needed to 
make the market more stable. 
 

Genetics  
We are refining our genetics 
strategy to ensure we have a clear 
plan to meet our customer and 
market requirements over the 
medium to longer term. We will 
have a herd that our customers 
value. 

China  
Build volume quickly through 
wholesale markets, build a 
boning facility with our JV partner, 
build and invest in an Australian 
premium beef brand to ensure 
longer term sustainability of  
the market. 

We undertook an organisational 
restructuring program during the 
latter part of 2012 to position the 
business and enable it to execute 
and deliver the objectives within  
the five year plan. 

Our strategy includes:

Transforming 
the company 
over the next 
three years.

Implement  
the 2012  
five year plan 
throughout 
the properties 
and corporate 
management.

To produce  
the right 
product at 
the right time 
in the right 
location.

.
Opposite Page: Trucking from Ucharonidge Station cattle yards 
Next Pages: Angus bulls, Isis Downs Station
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Executive
summary

Cattle Sales 

71,919

66,206

52,625

Cattle Brandings 

99,605

85,505

77,457

2012 

2011 

2010

2012 

2011 

2010



“The strategic plan will ensure the business continues 
to focus on the medium and longer term and not be 
distracted by short term supply and demand issues 
that will inevitably continue to emerge...”
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I write this report as the incoming 
Chairman of CPC following the 
retirement in August 2012 of  
Ken Warriner.

Ken justifiably holds a prominent 
place amongst that small group 
of pastoral industry leaders whose 
unique combination of rangelands 
management skills, cattle husbandry, 
business acumen and personal drive 
have helped put the industry in the 
world-leading status it enjoys today. 

On behalf of CPC and the people 
he has mentored, led and trained, 
I wholeheartedly thank Ken for 
his contribution. Ken remains a 
shareholder and is a strong voice for 
the industry.

Landmark year
Notwithstanding the challenges 
thrown at the business by the 
suspension of the Indonesian 
live export trade, changes in 
organisational structure and 
pressure on domestic beef prices 
driven by dry conditions in the 
second half of the year, 2012 was a 
landmark year for CPC. Landmark 
because it delivered a strong 
performance in the period and 

Indonesian live export trade
Space does not permit me to express 
all of my views on this issue. Much 
has already been said and the 
negative impacts are clearly visible. 
How structural and long term is the 
problem with Indonesia live trade 
market access is impossible to tell. 
What I do know is that Indonesia 
likes our beef and that it has a fast 
increasing middle class that has 
a developing appetite for quality 
safe protein. In Australia we need to 
ensure we work to satisfy this need.

Notwithstanding the present 
challenges, CPC is firmly committed 
to the Indonesian trade and fully 
supportive of our joint venture 
feedlot interests in that country.

CPC wishes to acknowledge the 
vigorous efforts of our feedlot joint 
venture partners in Indonesia in 
leading the push for improved 
abattoir practices. These efforts 
included the provision of capital for 
stunning and other facilities and the 
provision of its own staff to monitor 
practices. These efforts have been 
effective and delivered significant 
improvement.

concurrently undertook a major 
strategic review that spanned 
its operational, commercial and 
financial approach. This exercise 
spawned a detailed five year 
strategic plan.

The strategic plan will ensure the 
business continues to focus on the 
medium and longer term and not be 
distracted by short term supply and 
demand issues that will inevitably 
continue to emerge – whether 
they be climatic, foreign exchange , 
market access, political, or whatever. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The opening of the Chinese market 
reminds us what a quality product 
we have to offer and it presents a 
rare opportunity to meet a strong 
and growing demand in what should 
prove to be a reliable long term 

The suspension and the significant 
focus CPC has on the Indonesian 
market triggered awareness – the 
need to accelerate the momentum 
of a market diversification strategy 
with the development of new 
relationships in new geographies. We 
urge the Australian Government to 
provide additional resources to the 
restoration of the Indonesian market 
and improving access into China and 
South Korea in particular.
 
Animal welfare
The Indonesian market suspension 
threw the spotlight on animal welfare 
practices across the industry. The 
group often most distressed by any 
breach of animal welfare standards 
is the people who work in beef 
production. These people nurture the 
animals from conception to maturity 
with the highest level of care and 
commitment. CPC understands that 
animal production industries require 
a community licence to operate and 
that community expectations evolve 
over time. But the main driver for 
CPC’s high animal welfare principles 
is that they are part of its culture 
distilled from the values of its own 
employees.

market. The challenge for the 
industry is to establish Australian 
beef as the natural number one 
quality beef product. CPC’s 
strategic plan places a strong focus 
on the China opportunity.

Strategic plan
The finalisation of the five year 
strategic plan was a very significant 
body of work and building on 
the strong existing base of the 
business has the capacity to be 
transformational. Implementation 
of the plan will see the business 
evolve from a leading cattle 
producer to a world class market-
focused seller of beef.

In challenging times like those 
currently faced I believe the 
existence of the plan, with its level 
of ownership from our people, 
will greatly assist in helping the 
business to hold its aim when the 
shorter term challenges inevitably 
emerge.

I look forward to updating you on 
progress in the next annual report 
as the work streams of the plan are 
rolled out. 2013 will be the first year 
of outcome measurement.

CPC adopts an attitude of 
continuous improvement in  
this area, both on property  
and beyond.

Land care
Next to its people and its 
livestock, CPC’s most valuable 
asset is its rangelands. Since 
Terra Firma ownership in 2009, 
CPC has committed $125 
million in capital expenditure 
including the acquisition of 
five properties. It maintains an 
appetite for further growth and 
a belief in the benefits of scale.

Chairman’s statement

“CPC wishes to 
acknowledge the 
vigorous efforts of our 
feedlot joint venture 
partners in Indonesia 
in leading the push 
for improved abattoir 
practices.”

.
Above: Mark Bahen in CPC’s Head Office, Brisbane

The strength in 
performance was 
bookended by record 
branding numbers and 
the entrenchment of 
improved operational 
practices.
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This year saw a renewed 
commitment to developing the 
land portfolio and rangeland 
management excellence 
including improvements to 
the pasture monitoring system 
for assessment of rangeland 
condition, the development 
of detailed weed and erosion 
management plans, and the 
implementation of conservation 
management plans for areas 
with habitats of significant 
conservation importance.

New CEO
Following the departure of 
Mark Irwin in October 2012, 
Fergal Leamy joined us as Chief 
Executive Officer. Fergal has 
spent 15 years working with 
Food and Agricultural businesses 
throughout United States and 
Europe and is a Director at Terra 
Firma. We are delighted that he 
has joined us to lead and support 
the team through the next stage 
of CPC’s development and 
strategic growth. I thank Mark 
Irwin for his efforts during his 
time with CPC.

Our team
The quality of a business can never 
exceed the quality of its people. We 
live in a world where absurd adulation 
is heaped on people of minor talent. I 
find it a constant source of inspiration 
to mingle with people who possess 
the broad range of skills necessary 
to operate effectively in the pastoral 
industry. Skills that day in and day out 
are applied sometimes in dangerous 
isolation – not just geographical but 
also social and familial.

We rate with utmost importance the 
health and safety of our people. Part of 
what CPC does has inherent physical 
risk. In the continuous challenge to 
mitigate this risk we have launched 
a back to basics health, safety and 
injury management system and are full 
integrating health and safety into all 
aspects of activities by using effective 
communication and consultation, 
systematic identification, assessment 
and control of hazards.

I would express thanks to our entire 
team for their hard work through a 
difficult year. You will always be the 
backbone of the business.

Chairman’s statement

“I would like to express thanks to our entire team  
for their hard work through a difficult year.  
You will always be the backbone of the business.”

continued

.
Right: Natural lagoon, Wrotham Park Station
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It is a great honour to be writing 
to you for the first time as Chief 
Executive of this great Pastoral 
Company, a job I was proud to 
take up in October 2012, having 
previously served as a Director at 
our largest shareholder Terra Firma. 
It is both a challenging and exciting 
time to lead CPC, all the more so 
when you believe passionately as I 
do in our business, our strategy, our 
people and our potential.  
 
Backdrop
At a global level, demand for beef 
grew by 0.7%, outpacing growth  
in supply by 0.3%. Demand from 
new markets such as China and 
Southeast Asia continued growing 
strongly. Global beef prices rose  
by 1%. This growth however was  
not converted in the local producer 
market due to a number of local 
market factors. The market in 2012 
continued to be negatively impacted 
by the restrictions placed on the live 
trade to Indonesia in 2011. The flow 
on effects from this decision 
continue to be felt today particularly 
in northern Australia. The reduction 
in Indonesian trade has meant that 
cattle which would have been 
exported remained in the domestic 
market, leading to an oversupply 
and softening of prices.  
 

An ongoing exercise to more 
accurately count the existing herd 
concluded in December 2012.  
As a result, overall herd numbers 
were reduced by 15,800, causing 
a reduction in book value and 
an adverse EBITDA impact of 
$8m. This write-off was due to a 
variety of factors, including cattle 
that had died due to extreme 
weather conditions on some of the 
northern properties in the last few 
years. Lower market prices led to 
a further downward revaluation 
of $2m. Taking into account these 
one-off and non-cash adjustments, 
EBITDA for the year was $4m; 
however, the business performed 
well operationally, with increased 
efficiency somewhat offsetting 
weaker sales.

After a late start to the second 
round brandings, 99,600 calves 
were branded in the year, 14,100 
(17%) above prior year: this was a 
record for CPC. Capex for the year 
was $5m, this was a $1m up on prior 
year, although slightly lower than 
expected due to a later start to the 
annual investment program, as 
well as a delay in some expected 
maintenance projects.

“After a late start to the second round brandings, 
99,600 calves were branded in the year, 14,100 
(17%) above prior year: this was a record for CPC.” 

“A key element of our 
five year plan is the 
development  
of new markets.” 

Dry conditions in the second half of 
the year also led to significant 
numbers of cattle being sold into the 
market. This oversupply has led to a 
reduction in prices since October 
2012 as quoted by the Eastern Young 
Cattle Index by 22%. A further impact 
on the local market is the continued 
strong dollar which makes our 
products less competitive in a global 
market place. Against this significant 
new market opportunities began to 
open up in 2012. The most 
considerable of these is China where 
volumes imported from Australia 
increased by over 400% in the 
second half of the year.

Financial Highlights
CPC achieved a strong operating 
performance in 2012 in the face of a 
difficult market. Operating EBITDA, 
before non-cash valuations and 
write-offs, was $15m, 78% ahead of 
2011. Importantly, CPC significantly 
improved its cash conversion in 2012, 
achieving a positive operating cash 
flow of $8m, compared with $1m in 
2011. 

Current Development Plan
Following a major strategic review 
in 2012, the business is being 
transformed from a farm-gate 
producer to a market-focussed 
supplier. We now have a very clear 
five year plan that will deliver real 
value for our shareholders and 
ensure the business has a bright 
long-term future. As a result, there 
have been a number of senior 
management changes. General 
Managers of Queensland and the 
Northern Territory were appointed, 
the Health and Safety team was 
strengthened and a number of 
promotions made to Station 
Manager positions. The right 
organisation is now in place as CPC 
heads into the new season. 

A key element of our five year plan 
is the development of new markets. 
China is one of the markets where 
we believe there is significant 
opportunity for our product. Our 
Chinese joint venture with Dantong 
which sells boxed beef, has 
progressed well and is well placed 
to deliver significant growth into 
the future. This business will be 
further developed as CPC seeks to 
broaden the number of markets that 

CPC finished its financial year with 
cattle sales revenue of $48m, slightly 
below 2011. Over 70,000 head of 
cattle were sold in the year, which 
was lower than expected due to 
the continuing import restrictions 
in Indonesia which has reduced 
export volumes and resulted in 
lower prices in this market owing 
to excess supply. Domestic prices 
were also lower than expected, given 
increased slaughter rates following 
a drier season than in previous 
years. Cattle originally earmarked 
for export to Indonesia will continue 
to be transferred to Queensland 
properties for subsequent domestic 
sale in 2013/14, as Indonesian 
import restrictions are unlikely to be 
eased in the foreseeable future.

Total costs of $50m were $5m more 
than prior year, with lower sale-
related transport costs being offset 
by higher internal transfer  
and feedlot costs as cattle were 
moved to Queensland for sale in  
the domestic market.
 

it supplies with a more consumer- 
and retailer-based offering. We 
are optimistic that CPC will deliver 
significantly more sales to its chosen 
markets over the next  
12 months.

Finally, I would like to thank  
Ken Warriner who has stepped 
down as Chairman of our Group. 
Ken has made an indelible mark on 
the history of the Group over the 
course of 30 years, building it up into 
the leading Australian agribusiness 
it is today. His resilience, insight 
and unwavering commitment to 
developing the business was evident 
right to the end of his tenure and 
he continues to offer advice and 
guidance as a valued shareholder. 
Mark Irwin also left the business in 
October 2012, and I would like to 
thank Mark for his contributions to 
the Group and wish him all the best 
for the future.

CEO’s report

Operating EBITDA $15m, 78% ahead of 2011
Cash flow positive $8m, $7m ahead of 2011
Revenue $48m, $1m behind 2011

.
Above: Fergal Leamy in CPC’s Head Office boardroom, Brisbane
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Corporate and
social responsibility



Our people

The main focus areas for the Human 
Resources Department are to 
ensure that CPC has the culture, 
capability and capacity to achieve 
its business strategy through 
our attraction and retention, 
performance management and 
talent management strategies. 

Employee relations 
Communication 
CPC is driving continual 
improvements in two-way 
communication within the group, 
ensuring that employees understand 
strategy and purpose. Fortnightly 
teleconferences are available to all 
employees and a company intranet 
is used for sharing policies and 
information. An annual conference 
is held for station management, as 
well as quarterly on-station meetings 
to review property performance.

Learning and development 
We are strongly committed to 
developing our employees and in 
2012 introduced online performance 
reviews which also encompassed 
the setting of the Employee Personal 
Objectives for the upcoming 12 
month period. We have also invested 
in the appointment of two Training 

Coordinators, one in the North and 
one in the Southern region. 

Employee recruitment 
In response to the changing human 
resource marketplace, we reviewed 
our recruitment processes and 
introduced a recruitment website 
which has enabled talent pooling 
and broadcast notifications of 
vacancies to selected candidates 
further streamlining our recruitment 
process. 

Performance management 
We continued to review and 
refine our employee performance 
management framework. The 
framework covers our employee 
on-boarding program, performance 
development program and 
succession planning.  

We are committed to developing 
our emerging leaders. In 2012 a 
cadetship program was developed 
which in 2013–2014 will be 
introduced as targeted management 
development training for four 
selected candidates sourced from 
the applications put forward by the 
station managers.  
 

Employee assistance program (EAP)
As the majority of the group’s 
workforce is based on remote 
stations, in July 2012 we introduced 
the Employee Assistance Program 
which is a confidential counselling 
and wellbeing service that is 
available to all employees and their 
immediate families to assist with 
work or personal concerns.  
 
Indigenous partnerships 
As a key industry employer, CPC is 
working with the Northern Territory 
Cattlemen’s Association assisting 
indigenous employees by providing 
station based employment and 
accredited training.

Outlook 
Attracting and retaining employees 
will continue to be a challenge faced 
by all pastoral companies due to the 
lack of experienced station staff and 
competition for candidates from the 
mining industry. We will continue 
to develop the recruitment strategy 
while building on employment 
branding to attract top talent.  
 
Growing a healthy, productive and 
market-focussed workplace culture 
is essential to achieving our strategic 
objectives. 
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| Employees 

| Workforce are female, in a traditionally  
 male dominated industry 

| Average years of service of station management

205 

40% 
 

8

FEMALE 
40%

MALE 
60%

NORTHERN 
GROUP

SOUTHERN 
GROUP

SOUTHERN 
GROUP

NORTHERN 
GROUP

Workforce by Gender

CORPORATE 
SUPPORT

STATION 
MANAGERS

STATION MIDDLE 
MANAGEMENT

STATION 
EMPLOYEES

Staff by Function

Previous Page: Leading cattle back to their paddock, Carlton Hill Station 
Right: Rest after a muster, Comley Station
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Corporate and  
social responsibility

Workplace health and safety 
The health and safety of our staff 
and all those associated with 
CPC continues to be a central and 
constant focus on CPC properties.
Our WH&S strategic plan commits 
CPC to a proactive approach to our 
health and safety management 
system, based on effective 
communication and consultation, 
systematic identification, 
assessment and control of hazards.
To achieve our strategic objective, 
we have and will continue to: 
  • Adopt a back to basics 
  approach to WH&S and injury  
  management 
 • Liaise with other industry  
  organisations with the view  
  of assessing and evaluating, in  
  a co-operative way,  WH&S  
  systems that would most  
  benefit our strategy 
 • Raise awareness of the   
  effective use of risk  
  management 
 • Reduce incidents by the active  
  elimination of hazards 
 • Enhance the profile and  
  practice of health, safety and 
  wellbeing at all levels  
  within CPC. 

CPC’s WH&S management system 
is supported and improved by 

professionally and technically 
competent staff – able to oversee 
external compliance, provide 
technical advice and support.  
 
CPC has managed to maintain a 
robust and effective WH&S system 
for many years in an environment 
of increasing regulatory interest, 
licencing and training requirements.

Animal welfare
The welfare of its cattle is of 
paramount importance to CPC  
and its people. This has always  
been a priority and the company  
has worked continually to improve 
and promote the standards of  
animal welfare both during their  
time on its properties and leading  
up to slaughter.

CPC applies the principles of low 
stress cattle handling and regularly 
provides instruction and training to 
employees in these methods.

CPC cattle have access to sufficient 
food and water. Supplementary 
feeding of minerals is provided when 
necessary. Stocking rates are  
reduced when there are concerns 
about situations due to prevailing 
adverse conditions such as  
drought or flood.

CPC engages expert veterinarians to 
ensure that all endeavours are used 
to keep its cattle free from disease 
and illness.

Where it is necessary to transport 
CPC cattle this is done in compliance 
with the Code of Practice for the 
Transport of Animals for both land 
and sea transit.

CPC understands that there is 
an ethical imperative extending 
beyond the change in legal title to 
its cattle. CPC works closely with 
the Australian and Indonesian 
Governments and with its joint 
venture partners in Indonesia to 
ensure acceptable standards of 
animal welfare are in place in this 
important market.

In its dealings with customers, 
CPC reserves the right to inspect 
the facilities where CPC cattle are 
slaughtered and withhold supply 
if, in the company’s absolute 
discretion, it is not satisfied with the 
standards under which CPC cattle 
are slaughtered. 

CPC supports all steps designed to 
eliminate the inhumane and cruel 
treatment of animals.

Native title
Native title is a property right which 
recognises that some indigenous 
Australians have a traditional right 
and interest in the land. Native title 
can co-exist with non-indigenous 
property rights as is the case on 
CPC properties with native title 
determinations.  
 
In 2012 there was a consent 
determination of Native Title over 
Ucharonidge Station. This decision 
was based on the landmark 
2007 Newcastle Waters consent 
determination (King v Northern 
Territory of Australia) which has 
become a reference point for 
resolving Native Title issues in the 
Northern Territory.

Environment 
CPC undertakes regular review of 
compliance with state and federal 
environmental regulations as part 
of its environmental management 
systems. In addition to this 
regulatory baseline, the company 
continues its efforts to meet or 
exceed industry best practice 
guidelines in environmental 
management.  
 

In comparison with more intensive 
land uses, rangeland grazing, the 
basis of the CPC business, has 
minimum impact on the largely 
intact native landscapes under 
management. However, flowing from 
our property specific environmental 
impact assessments and also to 
meet our responsibility to maintain 
natural resources into the future, 
CPC has commenced some 
important initiatives. Key examples 
include increasing the robustness of 
the system for assessing rangeland 
condition. Secondly, development 
and implementation of detailed 
weed and erosion management 
plans on properties where these 
issues are rated as significant. 
Thirdly, the implementation of 
conservation management plans 
for areas with habitat of significant 
conservation importance. 

The largest of the conservation 
management plans is that over the 
Lake Woods area on Newcastle 
Waters Station in the Northern 
Territory. Covering an area of almost 
140,000 ha, Lake Woods and its 
catchment is listed as of National 
Significance for its importance to 

migratory and local waterbirds. 
The management plan is a 
partnership with the Northern 
Territory Government and is 
implemented by a Wetland 
Management Officer. The plan 
focuses on maintaining the 
natural flows of water through the 
catchment to the lake, reduction 
in the impact of the invasive weed 
Parkinsonia, monitoring waterbird 
populations and recording the 
details of the flora and fauna of 
this special area. 

Anti-corruption
CPC is committed to conducting 
its business in an ethical, honest 
and transparent manner. Bribery 
and corruption are not consistent 
with the Group’s values and 
present significant risks to its 
business and it is therefore 
committed to the prevention, 
deterrence and detection of 
bribery and corruption.
Under the Group Anti-Bribery 
Policy it is prohibited to offer, give, 
solicit or accept a bribe, whether 
cash or other inducement to or 
from any person or company.

“Covering an area of almost 140,000ha, Lake 
Woods and its catchment is listed as of National 
Significance for its importance to migratory and 
local waterbirds.”

.
Above: Yellow waterhole, Dungowan Station



Development

2524 Section 4 – Development



International markets

CPC in Indonesia
Indonesia is the largest economy 
in Southeast Asia and is the fastest 
growing economy in the region.  
With a population of over 238 million 
people, Indonesia is the world’s 
fourth most populous country in  
the world. 

Indonesia is a significant market 
for CPC cattle and along with our 
Indonesian joint venture partners. 
CPC is committed to the future of 
this region. 

Since the temporary suspension 
of live cattle imports to Indonesia 
in 2011 following a television 
documentary that exposed 
instances of cruelty to cattle in 
Indonesian abattoirs, CPC has 
worked hard with both its industry 
partners and Australian and 
Indonesian Government authorities 
to ensure the necessary procedures 
and protocols are put in place 
to enable compliance with the 
new standards established by the 
Australian Government. Animal 
welfare is a key consideration in 
CPC’s operations.

 

During 2012, CPC exported 16,350 
head of live cattle to Indonesia 
which represented 6% of the total 
live beef cattle exports to the country 
from Australia. 

Operations in Indonesia – PT Jung 
Jaya Abdi Alam
CPC holds a 50% interest in PT 
Juang Jaya Abdi Alam (PT JJAA), 
the other 50% being owned by our 
Indonesian Joint Venture partners. 
PT JJAA was first established in 
2000 and now operates two feedlots 
in Indonesia, located in Lampung 
(South Sumatra) and Medan (North 
Sumatra). The Lampung feedlot 
has a capacity of 28,000 head, while 
the Medan feedlot has a capacity of 
7,500 head; both facilities are “best 
in class” operations.

JJAA employs 180 people as 
permanent and contract employees, 
plus hires up to 300 casual daily 
workers. 

In 2006, in partnership with local 
partners PT Agro Giri Perkasa , a 
breeding program was established 
at the PT JJAA Lampung feedlot. 
Since 2006, 5,000 pregnant Brahman 
cross cows have been distributed 

throughout Indonesia supporting 
the increase in Indonesia’s national 
cattle population. In 2010 a Breeding 
Centre facility was established at 
the Lampung feedlot. The facility 
was built to support the Goverment  
program to educate local farmers on 
cattle management. Currently more 
than 1,000 head of breeding cows 
are being maintained at the breeding 
centre.
 
As part of corporate social 
responsibility (CSR) toward 
surrounding villages, PT JJAA has a 
number of routine and non-routine 
CSR projects including providing 
clean water facilities in each of 
its surrounding villages, building 
infrastructure (road and bridge), 
scholarships and providing financial 
assistance to the surrounding 
villages’ development.
  
CPC in China
In the last decade China’s demand 
for beef has trebled. The Chinese 
market now consumes a quarter of 
global supply and in 2012 became 
Australia’s fourth largest beef export 
customer. During the year 33,000 
tonnes of Australian beef was 
imported from Australia – a 400% 
increase on 2011.  

“During 2012, CPC exported 16,350 head of live cattle 
to Indonesia which represented 6% of the total live 
beef cattle exports to the country from Australia.” 

Mounting demand that consistently 
outstrips domestic supply, together 
with rising prices and a growing 
appreciation for the premium 
quality and food safety confidence 
offered by Australian beef, all 
represent a significant opportunity. 
CPC has begun to take advantage 
of this opportunity, following the 
establishment of its joint venture 
with a Chinese partner during 2011. 
This strategy has allowed CPC to 
leverage its expertise in pastoral beef 
production, while benefitting from 
the local know-how in importing, 
marketing and distribution that is 
required to successfully trade  
in China.  

Now entering its second year of 
commercial operation, the business 
will continue to build its platform 
to drive volume and diversify 
distribution channels in both the 
branded retail and wholesale 
markets across China. 
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Above right: CPC branded beef displayed in Chinese supermarkets 
Above far right: CPC branded beef outlet, Beijing, China 
Right: Juang Jaya Abdi Alam feedlot in Lampung, South Sumatra, Indonesia



CPC stud breeding program
There are four studs operating 
within the CPC Group producing 
bulls for the company’s commercial 
breeders. Brahman studs are located 
at Newcastle Waters Station and 
Allawah while Isis Downs is the 
home for both an Angus stud and 
from 2013, a Charolais stud.
 
Many of CPC’s breeding properties 
are located in regions which 
can present seasonal and other 
environmental challenges. The 
Brahman breed, which is the basis of 
the northern breeder herd, provides 
CPC with cattle which are better 
suited to the northern conditions. 
This breed has heat tolerance and 
can cope with long dry seasons; they 
require no assistance at calving and 
have resistance to cattle ticks and 
other parasites.  
 
Brahman cattle have strong weight 
gain performance and are suitable 
for either feedlot or grass finishing.
The highly regarded CPC Brahman 
herd was developed over a period 
of 30 years beginning with the 
introduction at Newcastle Waters 
of c. 20,000 Brahman heifers plus 
purebred bulls in the early 1980’s. 
These bulls were joined with the 

purchased heifers plus the base 
Shorthorn herd. Over a period of 
3 to 5 years the Newcastle Waters 
Shorthorn herd was gradually 
destocked through the federally 
funded BTEC program (Brucellosis 
and Tuberculosis Eradication 
Campaign) and replaced by the 
Brahman herd. In 1986, one of the 
original Australian Brahman herds 
Rockwood Stud, was purchased 
in its entirety and relocated to 
Newcastle Waters.  

The purchase in 1989 of Allawah 
Brahman Stud in central 
Queensland provided a bull 
breeding depot for the Newcastle 
Waters stud herd. The original 
Allawah herd was supplemented 
by the top 50 stud breeders from 
Newcastle Waters and from this 
base has gone on to produce 
many successful sires for CPC. At 
Allawah stud, CPC uses artificial 
insemination on heifers to help 
accelerate improved genetics 
throughout the herd using semen 
from premium Brahman bulls 
available in Australia and USA. 

Embryo transfers have also been 
used on the top Allawah breeding 
females using quality sire bulls.  

Over a decade of data has been 
collected at Allawah stud and is 
now being used to identify elite 
breeders within the stud which will 
be targeted for an embryo program. 
In addition to data collection for 
both the cows and bulls produced 
at Allawah, DNA samples and 
gene markers for fertility are used 
to identify desirable traits for the 
breeding program.  

Following over 10 years of trials on 
alternate breeds and crossbreds 
including Santa Gertrudis, 
Romangola, Shorthorn and 
Simmental, the Charolais and 
Angus breeds were selected as the 
best options for development of 
a crossbreeding program on CPC 
properties. Both of these breeds 
show high levels of hybrid vigour 
with favourable traits seen in growth, 
carcase quality and fertility. 

A core Angus breeder herd was 
introduced to Isis Downs in 2001. 
Angus bulls from this program are 
joined with Charbray heifers and the 
progeny from this cross are ideal for 
both the Australian domestic beef 
market and the export beef market, 
either off grass pastures or grain 
finished in the feedlot. Isis Downs 

Angus bulls are now being used as 
far north as Newcastle Waters and 
trialled at Wrotham Park to expand 
CPC’s crossbreeding programs.  

With the desire to infuse Charolais 
genetics into the northern herd in 
early 1990’s, initial trials commenced 
involving the introduction of 
purchased Charolais bulls from 
southern Australia which achieved 
limited success. In 1995 a Charolais 
bull breeding program was 
commenced at Mimong Station 
to breed bulls which would be 
acclimatised to the northern 
conditions. CPC has now been 
self-sufficient with its Charolais bull 
requirements for over 20 years. Due 
to the dry seasonal conditions in 
2013, the Charolais stud at Mimong  
is being relocated to Isis Downs. 

As with all CPC genetics, much 
focus is based on confirmation 
and performance, which, when 
coupled with strong record 
keeping and careful selection 
of new genetics proves to be a 
good formula. This year will see 
the implementation of a large 
fixed time artificial insemination 
program with the Angus Stud at 
Isis with subsequent programs 
in both the Charolais and Angus 
studs continuing in coming years. 
With 30 years of genetic strength 
and development CPC cattle are 
in demand by our customers, 
several of which we have been 
selling to over many years, with 
excellent feedback on quality, 
consistency and suitability for 
markets.
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Above right: Angus Stud cows, Isis Downs Station  
Right: Semen straws stored for AI program, Allawah Stud 

“This year will see the implementation of 
a large fixed time artificial insemination 
program with the Angus Stud...”



Native Pastures

Managing our native pastures
Native pastures make up more than 
90% of the feed resource driving 
herd productivity on CPC properties 
across northern Australia. This vital 
economic importance is matched by 
the contribution that native pastures 
make to biodiversity and their role 
in maintaining landscape stability. 
Northern Australia’s native pastures 

make up by far the largest areas 
of relatively un-modified native 
grasslands in the world.

Native pastures have adapted over 
millennium to the climatic and 
environmental conditions of their 
range. They have evolved strategies 
to survive drought including storing 
nutrients in their roots, becoming 
dormant and producing long-lived 
seed. They then respond to flooding 
rains with rapid emergence and 
prolific growth. There is no better 
example of this than the fantastic 
channel country pasture growth and 
resultant cattle live-weight gains we 
see when the conditions are right. 

Native pastures are made up of 
grasses, legumes, forbs and the often 
over-looked trees and shrubs (locally 
known as top-feed). This diversity 
in its own right provides amazing 
long-term stability and resilience to 
the pasture and also provides cattle 
with a diverse range of diet selection 
choices – important for good animal 
production.

Management of native pastures for 
animal production in the medium to 
long term requires an understanding 
of their ecology and an insight into 

how animals interact with them.  
The key to this is a focus on matching 
cattle numbers to long term carrying 
capacity of the native pasture base. 
Regularly having too many cattle 
grazing for too long on an area will 
reduce the prevalence of the better 
quality pastures and increase the 
prevalence of the non-preferred 
species resulting in a reduced 
capacity to carry cattle and a loss  
of biodiversity. 

A pasture monitoring 
program like the 
one in place on CPC 
properties is essential 
to allow assessment of 
change over time and 
to inform the managers 
about trends in pasture 
condition so that 
sound land and cattle 
management decisions 
can be made.

“Native pastures make up more than 
90% of the feed resource driving 
herd productivity on CPC properties 
across northern Australia.” 
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*For the year ended 31 December 2012
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Board of directors

Fergal was appointed as Chief 
Executive Officer in October 2012. 
Fergal is a Director at Terra Firma 
and has spent 15 years working with 
food and agricultural businesses 
across Europe, United States 
and Australia. Prior to joining 
Terra Firma, Fergal was the CEO 
of Greencore USA, one of the 
world’s leading private label food 
manufacturers. Fergal began his 
career at McKinsey and Company 
in London where he served many 
leading food and agricultural clients. 
Fergal has Bachelor degrees in 
Business and Law from University 
College Dublin.

Mark joined the Board  
26 November 2008 and was 
subsequently appointed as 
Chairman 9 August 2012. Mark is a 
former partner of Clayton Utz, one 
of Australia’s leading commercial 
law firms where he practised 
corporate and commercial law 
and headed up the agribusiness 
practice. He has provided advice 
to some of Australia’s leading 
agribusiness companies. He is a 
Director of St John of God Health 
Care, a leading Australian private 
hospital and health care operator. 
Mark has retained a personal 
involvement in agriculture all his 
working life and currently farms in 
the Margaret River region.

Mike is an Operating Managing Director 
at Terra Firma. Mike has been involved 
in a number of Terra Firma’s investments 
including some of the pub companies, 
the UK landfill businesses of WRG and 
Shanks, and East Surrey Holdings. He 
is currently Chairman of Infinis and his 
other portfolio responsibilities include 
EverPower. Until recently he was the 
Chairman and Board Director of Odeo/
UCI cinemas group.

Prior to joining Terra Firma in 2000, 
Mike was Group Chief Executive Officer 
of Stagecoach Holdings Plc (FTSE 250), 
and Chief Executive Officer of Power 
Distribution and Water Operations for 
Scottish Power Plc (now part of Iberdrola, 
an IBEX 35 company). This included the 
position of Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of Manweb Electricity Plc and 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Southern Water Plc. Prior to this he was 
a main board Director of Jaguar Cars Ltd. 
He was also a government appointed 
non- executive Director of the UK Post 
Office from 1998–2002. 

Mike has an HNC in Electrical and 
Electronic Engineering from Lanchester 
Polytechnic (Coventry) and an MBA (with 
distinction) from Warwick University. 
He is a visiting professor and honorary 
doctor at Middlesex University and a 
visiting professor at both Brunel and 
Reading Universities.

 

Non-Executive Chairman CEO and Executive Director Non-Executive Director

Chris is Chairman of Agricultural 
Management Company Pty Ltd, 
one of Australia’s largest rural 
consultancy and management 
companies. Chris has been involved 
in agribusiness for over 35 years 
and was formerly Managing 
Director of Taylor Byrne and then 
Rural Management Partners, 
rural valuation and agribusiness 
consultancies. Chris began his 
working life as a Jackaroo, Overseer, 
Station Manager and Research 
and Development Officer for 
Stanbroke Pastoral Company. Over 
the eleven years of employment 
with Stanbroke, he was based on a 
number of cattle properties and the 
head office. Chris is a Fellow of the 
Australian Property Institute and 
former Chairman of the Valuation 
Professional Board (Qld) and 
member of the Australian Property 
Institute Council (Qld).

John was appointed as CPC’s Chief 
Financial Officer in May 2010. 
John is an Australian Chartered 
Accountant, with over 25 years 
working experience in Australia 
and Asia. Prior to joining CPC in 
June 2010, John was a Finance 
and Managing Director for Jardine 
Matheson Limited in Indonesia 
for 10 years and has extensive 
experience as a Financial Manager 
throughout the Southeast Asian 
region.

In Australia, John practiced as 
a CA with Coopers and Lybrand 
and Deloitte’s and his pastoral 
experience includes working as the 
Financial Controller for Heytesbury 
Beef in the mid 1990’s.

Steven has worked on some of Terra 
Firma’s most successful investments 
including transactions as diverse as 
Annington Homes – one of the very 
first for the group – Tank & Rast 
and the group’s pub businesses. 
More recently, Steven worked on 
the AWAS deal and the acquisition 
of Pegasus by AWAS, and has 
focussed on the leisure, leasing and 
transportation sectors. He currently 
is responsible for Terra Firma’s 
investments in Annington, AWAS 
and CPC.

Steven joined PFG, the forerunner 
to Terra Firma, in 1996 following his 
graduation from the University of 
Reading with a Masters degree in 
International Securities, Investment 
and Banking (MSc).

Non-Executive Director Non-Executive DirectorCFO and Executive Director

*



Corporate governance  
statement

The following paragraphs describe 
the key governance structures and 
internal controls operating within 
the company. Through these 
mechanisms, the company aims 
to apply the highest standards of 
corporate governance. 

Board constitution and procedures 
There are two Executive Directors 
and four Non-Executive Directors 
on the Board. Mark Bahen is the 
Chairman and is responsible 
for the effective running of the 
Board and for communications 
with all directors. He ensures 
that the Board receives sufficient 

information on financial trading and 
corporate issues prior to the Board 
meetings. The executive directors 
are responsible for reporting to 
the Board on operations and the 
development of strategic plans for 
consideration by the Board as a 
whole. 

The Board meets regularly 
during the year. During 2012 five 
scheduled meetings were held, all 
in Australia. All members of the 
Board receive detailed financial and 
operational information and regular 
presentations from executives 
on the business performance, in 

addition to items for decision and 
minutes of Board committees in 
advance of each board meeting, 
whether they are able to attend 
or not. This enables the directors 
to make informed decisions on 
corporate and business issues 
under consideration. 

The Board has adopted a 
Corporate Governance Charter  
and a formal schedule of delegated 
authorities to facilitate decision 
making. Key policy and strategic 
decisions are made by the full 
Board. Such matters include, but 
are not limited to the final approval 

of the annual accounts and budget, 
major acquisitions and disposals, 
and any changes to the Company’s 
financing arrangements and 
financial policies. Regular updates 
on legal and risk management, 
health and safety, and other key 
company policies are given to  
the Board.  

Where urgent decisions are required 
on matters specifically reserved 
for the Board in between meetings, 
there is a process in place to 
facilitate discussion and decision-
making. The directors also have 
access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary, internal 
legal counsel and external advisers, 
as appropriate. 

Board committees 
The Board has established three 
committees, each with clearly 
defined terms of reference, 
procedures, responsibilities  
and powers. 

Finance committee 
This Committee is responsible for 
making recommendations to the 
Board on funding strategy, capital 
structure and management of 
financial risks and the policies 
and control procedures, approval 

of investments and divestments, 
raising of external financing and the 
granting of securities, guarantees 
and indemnities as set out within 
the delegated authorities. In certain 
specific circumstances the board 
has delegated authorities to the 
Committee to make decisions in 
these areas.  

Audit committee 
The Audit Committee is chaired by 
Mark Bahen. There are two members 
of the Audit Committee, both 
non-executive Directors. The Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and external auditors are 
normally invited to attend the Audit 
Committee meeting. The Committee 
meets at least twice annually at 
appropriate times in the reporting 
and audit cycle. The Committee 
oversees the relationship with the 
external auditors. It reviews their 
audit plan and discusses audit 
findings with them. In addition, the 
Committee reviews the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal controls 
and risk management systems 
and also ensures that there is 
proportionate and independent 
investigation of any matter bought 
to their attention. The Committee 
is required to assist the Board to 
fulfil its responsibilities related to 

external financial reporting and 
associated announcements. During 
the year the Committee reviewed 
either as a Committee or as part of 
the Board: 
 • the annual financial  
  statements, including the  
  requirements for financial  
  reporting;   
 • changes proposed to the  
  Company’s accounting policies  
  and practices;  
 • significant accounting  
  issues; and 
 • the audit plan and processes.  
 
The Committee is also 
responsible for the development, 
implementation and monitoring of 
the Company’s policy on external 
audit. The Committee has oversight 
responsibility for monitoring 
independence, objectivity and 
compliance with ethical and 
regulatory requirements. The 
Committee recommends the 
appointment and reappointment 
of the Company’s external auditors 
and annually reviews a formal letter 
provided by the external auditors 
confirming their independence and 
objectivity within the context of 
applicable regulatory requirements 
and professional standards.  
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Lake Woods Holdings Pty Ltd’s Board believes that 
effective corporate governance is a fundamental  
aspect of a well run company and is committed to 
achieving the highest standards of corporate governance, 
corporate responsibility and risk management in directing 
and controlling the business. 



The Committee also reviews 
the terms of responsibility and 
scope of the audit (including 
schedules of unadjusted errors 
and representation letters) as 
set out in the external auditors’ 
engagement letter; the overall 
work plan for the forthcoming 
year, together with the cost 
effectiveness of the audit as well 
as the auditors’ remuneration 
and performance; any major 
issues which arise during the 
course of the audit and their 
resolution; key accounting and 
audit judgements; the level of 
errors identified during the audit; 
and the recommendations made 
to management by the auditors 
and management’s response.  
 
Remuneration and nominations 
committee 
The Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee is 
chaired by Mark Bahen and also 
comprises two non-executive 
directors. The Committee meets 
at least twice a year and at such 
other times as the Board requires.  
 
The Committee’s specific duties 
and responsibilities are as 
follows: 
 • to establish criteria to be  
  used in selecting Directors  

  and ensure the remuneration  
  packages are designed to  
  attract, motivate and retain  
  staff of the highest calibre; 
 • to approve the remuneration  
  of the executive directors  
  and management, to provide  
  independent and objective  
  assessment of any benefits  
  granted to directors and  
  management; and    
 • to ensure that the pension  
  arrangements throughout  
  the Group are appropriate,  
  well supervised and conform  
  to applicable law. 

The Committee will also review the 
design of incentive and performance 
related pay plans for approval by the 
Board and will review the Company’s 
remuneration policies as a whole 
and remuneration trends across the 
Company. 

Operating board 
A meeting of the Consolidated 
Pastoral Company Pty Ltd Board 
is held on alternate months to the 
Company Board Meeting. This Board 
is chaired by Fergal Leamy and 
comprises three Executive Directors 
and one Non-Executive Director.
The Operating Board oversees 
the day to day management of 
the group’s on farm operations 

and reports to the Lake Woods 
Holdings Pty Ltd Board in 
accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Charter and Board 
Delegated Authorities.

Change to year-end 
The Board of Directors of the 
Company approved a change in 
the Company’s financial year end 
from 31 December to 31 March 
annually effective from 31 March 
2013. This is to align with the 
growing season which starts at the 
completion of the wet season in 
northern Australia and will assist 
with forecasting and financial 
management. CPC will prepare 
financial accounts for a three 
month accounting period from 
1 January 2013 to 31 March 2013 
then twelve month accounting 
periods will follow. The 1 January 
2013 to 31 March 2013 financial 
results will be included within the 
March 2014 Annual Report.

Risk management and internal 
controls 
The Company’s aim is to manage 
risk and to control its business and 
financial activities cost-effectively 
and in a manner that enables 
it to exploit profitable business 
opportunity in a disciplined way. 
The Board has overall responsibility 

for the systems of internal controls, 
which are designed to manage risk 
of failure to achieve the objectives 
of the business where such risk 
cannot be eliminated. The Board 
has considered the systems of 
internal control for the accounting 
year under review and is satisfied 
that they are appropriate. 

Key business risks
The company and its subsidiaries 
in carrying out its principal 
business activities are affected 
by business risks arising from its 
trading environment and from 
an uncertain global economic 
environment. The key business 
risks are highlighted below:

Seasonal risks
Whilst CPC’s geographic spread 
of properties provides a natural 
hedge against seasonal variations, 
extreme occurrences (eg flood, 
droughts, fires) will have an  
impact on operations.

Competition risk
CPC operates in a competitive 
global protein market with varied 
competitors from other beef 
producers and other protein 
sources (eg pork, chicken).

Risk of market fluctuation
Any material decrease in global  
beef prices will impact the sales  
and profitability of the company.

Risk of change in government policy
Any change in the Governments of 
Australia, Indonesia or China with 
regard to the sale and transport 
of cattle can affect the sales and 
profitability of the company. 

Risk on currency movements
CPC’s major markets are overseas 
(particularly Indonesia) and 
any material movements in the 
Australian dollar will impact profits.

Disease risk
The Australian cattle industry is 
disease free and has an exceptional 

reputation worldwide for 
provision of high quality beef.  
As we have seen recently in other 
countries with foot and mouth 
disease, if these standards are 
compromised the reputational 
risk to Australian beef producers 
would be significant.

Workplace injury 
The nature of CPC’s business 
means employees are working 
with animals and machinery in 
remote locations. CPC engages 
a designated WH&S officer who 
develops and monitors group 
safety policies and formal 
operating procedures.  
A workplace injury could have an 
impact on business operations.

Key person risk
CPC’s key management positions 
require considerable knowledge 
and expertise. The loss of people 
in key positions would impact 
the operation of the company.
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Left: Finance team in the boardroom at CPC Head Office, Brisbane



The Board of Directors present their report together 
with the financial report of Lake Woods Holdings 
Pty Limited (the “Company”) and of the Group, 
being the Company, its subsidiaries and the Group’s 
interest in associates for the year ended  
31 December 2012 and the auditor’s report thereon.
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Directors’ report

Directors 
The Directors of the Company at  
any time during or since the end  
of the financial year are: 

Mark Bahen

Christopher Evans

Michael Kinski

John Stevenson

Steven Webber   
Appointed 9 August 2012

Fergal Leamy   
Appointed 3 December 2012

Jacqueline Cannon   
Resigned 1 February 2012

Karen Dolenec    
Resigned 11 July 2012

Kenneth Warriner   
Resigned 9 August 2012

Geoffrey Warriner   
Resigned 9 August 2012

Tim Money    
Resigned 29 September 2012

Mark Irwin    
Resigned 17 October 2012

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group 
during the course of the financial 
year were operations as a pastoral 
company producing beef cattle.
There were no significant changes 
in the nature of the activities of the 
Group during the year.

Operating	and	financial	review
The loss from operations for the 
Group after income tax amounted to 
$35,587K. This compares to a profit 
of $12,470K for the prior year.  
The Group’s earnings before finance 
costs, income tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment 
amounted to a profit of $4,569K 
versus a profit of $32,436K for the 
prior year reflecting both tougher 
trading conditions and modest 
growth in operating expenses.  
The Group’s livestock assets grew in 
value to $256,626K versus $252,843K 
for the prior year. Livestock assets 
together with property, plant and 
equipment comprised 94.6% of the 
Group’s total assets as at year end.

Dividends
No dividends were paid or declared 
by the Company to members during 
the year ended 31 December 2012 
(2011: Nil).

Events subsequent to  
reporting date
There has not arisen in the interval 
between the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature likely, 
in the opinion of the directors of 
the Company, to affect significantly 
the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Group, in future 
financial years.

Likely developments
The Group will continue to pursue 
its policy of increasing profitability 
and market share during the next 
financial year. Further information 
about likely developments in the 
operations of the Group and the 
expected results of those operations 
in future financial years has not 
been included in this report because 
disclosure of the information would 
be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Group. 

Environmental regulations
The Group’s operations are subject 
to various environmental regulations 
under both Commonwealth and 
State legislation.  

.
Right: Drafting at Wrotham Park Station

The Board believes that the 
Company has adequate systems 
in place for the management of its 
environment requirements and is 
not aware of any breaches of those 
environmental requirements as they 
apply to the Group. 

Indemnification	and	insurance	of	
officers	and	auditors
During the financial period a 
subsidiary of the company paid a 
premium in respect of a contract 
insuring the directors of the 
company (as named above),  
and all executive officers of the 
company and of any related body 

corporate against a liability incurred 
as a director, secretary, executive 
officer to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The contract 
of insurance prohibits disclosure of 
the nature of the liability and the 
amount of the premium. 

Rounding	off	
The Company is of a kind referred 
to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 
10 July 1998 and in accordance with 
that Class Order, amounts in the 
financial report and directors’ report 
have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. 

Lead auditor’s independence 
declaration under Section 307C 
of the Corporations  
Act 2001
The Lead Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration is set out on page 42 
and forms part of the director’s 
report for the year ended 31 
December 2012.



As at 31 December 2012 As at 31 December 2012

The notes on pages 48–62 are an integral part of these financial Statements.

Consolidated Company

Note 2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) 2,876 3,035 126 33

Trade and other receivables 11 6,247 14,516 57,311 39,739

Biological assets 12 256,626 252,843 - -

Inventories 13 2,072 2,240 - -

Other assets 16 1,117 1,976 - -

Total current assets 268,938 274,610 57,437 39,772

Trade and other receivables 11 5,549 6,562 271,789 235,789

Investment in equity accounted investees 6,125 5,926 - -

Investment in subsidiaries 15 - - 95,846 83,846

Property, plant and equipment 14 422,884 456,544 - -

Deferred tax assets - - 45,251 34,284

Other assets 16 15,000 15,000 - -

Total non-current assets 449,558 484,032 412,886 353,919

Total assets 718,496 758,642 470,323 393,691

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 14,718 12,099 96 -

Employee benefits 20 848 1,054 - -

Deferred income 712 285 - -

Total current liabilities 16,278 13,438 96 -

Trade and other payables 17 - 151 - -

Loans and borrowings 18 237,500 275,500 61,182 44,947

Deferred tax liabilities 17,002 32,962 - -

Employee benefits 20 - 194 - -

Total non-current liabilities 254,502 308,807 61,182 44,947

Total liabilities 270,780 322,245 61,278 44,947

Net assets 447,716 436,397 409,045 348,744

Equity

Share capital 21 368,934 320,934 368,934 320,934

Reserves (3,705) (2,611) - -

Retained earnings 82,487 118,074 40,111 27,810

Total equity 447,716 436,397 409,045 348,744
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001  

 
To: the directors of Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited  
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended  
31 December 2012 there have been:  
 
 (i)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements  
  as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and  
 
 (ii)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct  
  in relation to the audit. 

 
KPMG
 

Matthew McCarron 
Partner 
 
Sydney 
17 April 2013



For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2012

Consolidated Company

Note 2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

Revenue 6 47,067 67,409 - -

Other income 7 4,588 11,622 - -

Personnel expenses (14,070) (13,864) - -

Livestock expenses (13,754) (18,081) - -

Property repairs and maintenance (5,239) (5,533) - -

Other expenses 8 (14,389) (9,894) - (38)

Share of net profit of equity accounted 
investees (net of income tax)

366 777 - -

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  
before finance costs, income tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment

4,569 32,436 - (38)

Depreciation and amortisation (4,499) (4,083) - -

Reversal of prior period  
properties impairment

- 6,673 - -

Impairment of properties (33,611) (1,944) - -

Profit/(loss) before finance costs  
and income tax expense

(33,541) 33,082 - (38)

Net finance income/(costs) 9 (17,814) (17,695) 17,573 15,334

Profit/(loss) before income tax (51,335) 15,387 17,573 15,296

Income tax benefit/(expense) 10 15,768 (2,917) (5,272) (4,588)

Profit/(loss) for the period (35,587) 12,470 12,301 10,708

Other comprehensive income

Fair value revaluation of properties (922) 280 - -

Effective portion of changes in fair value  
of cash flow hedges

(640) (6,933) - -

Income tax on other comprehensive income 468 1,996 - -

Other comprehensive income for the period,  
net of income tax

(1,094) (4,657) - -

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the period (36,681) 7,813 12,301 10,708

Consolidated Company

Issued 
capital 

$’000

Hedging  
reserve  

$’000

Revaluation 
reserve  

$’000

Retained 
earnings 

$’000

Total  
equity  
$’000 

Balance at 1 January 2011 281,531 1,481 565 105,604 389,181

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period - - - 12,470 12,470

- - - 12,470 12,470

Other comprehensive income

Net change in fair value of properties - - 196 - 196

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 
hedges, net of tax

- (4,853) - - (4,853)

Total other comprehensive income for the period - (4,853) 196 - (4,657)

Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares 39,403 - - - 39,403

Total transactions with owners 39,403 - - - 39,403

Balance at 31 December 2011 320,934 (3,372) 761 118,074 436,397

Balance at 1 January 2012 320,934 (3,372) 761 118,074 436,397

Total comprehensive income for the period

Loss for the period - - - (35,587) (35,587)

- - - (35,587) (35,587)

Other comprehensive income

Net change in fair value of properties - - (646) - (646)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 
hedges, net of tax

- (448) - - (448)

Total other comprehensive income for the period - (448) (646) - (1,094)

Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares 48,000 - - - 48,000

Total transactions with owners 48,000 - - - 48,000

Balance at 31 December 2012 368,934 (3,820) 115 82,487 447,716

The amounts recognised directly in equity are disclosed net of tax.
The notes on pages 48–62 are an integral part of these financial Statements.The notes on pages 48–62 are an integral part of these financial Statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2012

Consolidated Company

Share 
capital 

$’000

Hedging  
reserve  

$’000

Revaluation 
reserve  

$’000

Retained 
earnings 

$’000

Total  
equity  
$’000 

Balance at 1 January 2011 281,531 - - 17,102 298,633

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period - - - 10,708 10,708

- - - 10,708 10,708

Transactions with owners, recorded  
directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares 39,403 - - - 39,403

Total transactions with owners 39,403 - - - 39,403

Balance at 31 December 2011 320,934 - - 27,810 348,744

Balance at 1 January 2012 320,934 - - 27,810 348,744

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period - - - 12,301 12,301

- - - 12,301 12,301

Transactions with owners, recorded  
directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares 48,000 - - - 48,000

Total transactions with owners 48,000 - - - 48,000

Balance at 31 December 2012 368,934 - - 40,111 409,045

The amounts recognised directly in equity are disclosed net of tax

Consolidated Company

Note 2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 62,138 48,376 92 -

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (54,099) (47,698) - 7

Cash generated from operations 8,039 678 92 7

Interest received 584 443 1 13

Interest paid (14,854) (17,692) - -

Net cash from operating activities 22(b) (6,231) (16,571) 93 20

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,212 249 - -

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (5,140) (38,773) - -

Loans to subsidiaries - - (36,000) (25,615)

Investment in subsidiaries - - (12,000) (13,788)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,928) (38,524) (48,000) (39,403)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 48,000 39,403 48,000 39,403

Drawdown /(Repayment) of borrowings (38,000) 16,500 - -

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 10,000 55,903 48,000 39,403

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(159) 808 93 20

Cash and cash equivalents opening balance 3,035 2,227 33 13

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22(a) 2,876 3,035 126 33

The notes on pages 48–62 are an integral part of these financial Statements.The notes on pages 48–62 are an integral part of these financial Statements.
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As at 31 December 2012

1. Reporting entity 
 
Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited (the 
“Company”) is a Company domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the 
Company’s registered office is 
Newcastle Waters Station, Drovers 
Drive, Newcastle Waters, Northern 
Territory, Australia. The consolidated 
financial statements of the Company 
as at and for the year ended 31 
December 2012 comprise the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the “Group” and individually as 
“Group entities”) and the Group’s 
interest in associates and jointly 
controlled entities.  
 
The Group is a for-profit entity and 
primarily is involved in producing  
beef cattle. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, the 
Group is not a reporting entity.  
The financial statements of the Group 
and the Company have been drawn up 
as special purpose financial 
statements for distribution to the 
members and for the purpose of 
fulfilling the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 

2. Basis of preparation 
 
Statement of compliance 
The special purpose financial 
statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and the 
recognition, measurement and 
classification aspects of all applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 
 
The financial report does not include 
the disclosure requirements of all 
AASBs except for the following 
minimum requirements: 
 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements 
 
AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows 
 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
 

AASB 1031 Materiality 
 
AASB 1048 Interpretation and 
Application of Standards 
 
AASB 1054 Australian Additional 
Disclosures 
 
Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for the following 
material items in the statement of 
financial position: 
 
• Derivative financial instruments  
 are measured at fair value 
• Biological assets are measured at  
 fair value less costs to sell 
• Land, buildings and improvements  
 included within property, plant  
 and equipment are measured at  
 fair value 
 
Functional and presentation  
currency 
These consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency.  
 
The Company is of a kind referred to in 
ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 
1998 and in accordance with that Class 
Order, amounts in the financial report 
and directors’ report have been 
rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise stated.  
 
Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with AASBs 
requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application 
of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected. 
 

3. Significant accounting 
policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below 
have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements, and 
have been applied consistently by the 
Group entities. 
 
Certain comparative amounts have 
been reclassified to conform with the 
current year’s presentation. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
(i) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by 
the Group. Control exists when the 
Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that currently 
are exercisable are taken into account. 
The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until 
the date that control ceases. The 
accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed when necessary to 
align them with the policies adopted 
by the Group. 
 
In the Company’s financial statements, 
investments in subsidiaries are carried 
at cost. 
 
(ii) Investments in associates and  
jointly controlled entities (equity- 
accounted investees)  
Associates are those entities in which 
the Group has significant influence, but 
not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. Significant influence 
is presumed to exist when the 
Company holds between 20 and 50 
percent of the voting power of another 
entity. Jointly controlled entities are 
those entities over whose activities the 
Group has joint control, established by 
contractual agreement and requiring 
unanimous consent for strategic 
financial and operating decisions. 
 

continued

Investments in associates and jointly 
controlled entities are accounted for 
using the equity method (equity-
accounted investees) and are initially 
recognised at cost. The Group’s 
investment includes goodwill 
identified on acquisition, net of any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the profit 
or loss and other comprehensive 
income of equity-accounted investees, 
after adjustments to align the 
accounting policies with those of the 
Company, from the date that 
significant influence or joint control 
commences until the date that 
significant influence or joint control 
ceases.  
 
When the Group’s share of losses 
exceeds its interest in an equity-
accounted investee, the carrying 
amount of that interest, including any 
long-term investments that form part 
thereof, is reduced to zero, and the 
recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that 
the Group has an obligation or has 
made payments on behalf of the 
investee. 
 
In the Company’s financial statements, 
investments in jointly controlled 
entities are carried at cost. 
 
(iii)  Transactions eliminated on 
consolidation  
Intra-group balances and transactions, 
and any unrealised income and 
expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised gains arising 
from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investee. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains, but only 
to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised when 
the contributed assets are consumed 
or sold by the equity accounted 

investees or, if not consumed or sold 
by the equity accounted investee, 
when the Group’s interest in such 
entities is disposed of. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated to the respective functional 
currencies of the Group at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at that date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary 
items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the 
period, adjusted for effective interest 
and payments during the period, and 
the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the 
end of the year. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair 
value are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the 
date that the fair value was 
determined. Foreign currency 
differences arising on retranslation are 
recognised in profit or loss. Non-
monetary items in a foreign currency 
that are measured in terms of historical 
cost are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. 
 
Financial instruments 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
The Group initially recognises loans 
and receivables and deposits on the 
date that they are originated. All other 
financial assets (including assets 
designated at fair value through profit 
or loss) are recognised initially on the 
trade date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Group derecognises a financial 
asset when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expire,  
or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows on the financial 
asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are 

transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that  
is created or retained by the Group  
is recognised as a separate asset  
or liability.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are 
offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has 
a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 
 
The Group has the following 
non-derivative financial assets: 
held-to-maturity financial assets and 
loans and receivables. 
 
Held to maturity financial assets 
If the Group has the positive intent  
and ability to hold debt securities to 
maturity, then such financial assets 
are classified as held to maturity. 
Held to maturity financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition held-to-maturity 
financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment 
losses. Any sale or reclassification of 
a more than insignificant amount of 
held-to-maturity investments not 
close to their maturity would result in 
the reclassification of all held-to 
maturity investments as available-
for-sale, and prevent the Group from 
classifying investment securities as 
held-to-maturity for the current and 
the following two financial years. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are financial 
assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses. 
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3. Significant accounting 
policies 
continued 
Financial instruments 
continued 
Loans and receivables 
continued 
 
Loans and receivables comprise cash 
and cash equivalents and, trade and 
other receivables.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash balances and call deposits with 
original maturities of three months or 
less from the acquisition date that are 
subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in their fair value, and are 
used by the Group in the management 
of its short-term commitments.  
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows. 
 
(ii) Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 
The Group initially recognises debt 
securities issued and subordinated 
liabilities on the date that they are 
originated. All other financial liabilities 
(including liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss) are 
recognised initially on the trade date, 
which is the date that the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  
 
The Group derecognises a financial 
liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are 
offset and the net amount presented  
in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has  
a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.  
 

The Group has the following non-
derivative financial liabilities: loans 
and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and 
trade and other payables. 
 
Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these financial liabilities are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
(iii) Share capital 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are classified as 
equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, 
net of any tax effects.  
 
(iv) Derivative financial 
instruments, including hedge 
accounting 
The Group holds derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its interest rate 
risk exposures.  
 
On initial designation of the derivative 
as the hedging instrument, the Group 
formally documents the relationship 
between the hedging instrument and 
hedged item, including the risk 
management objectives and strategy 
in undertaking the hedge transaction 
and the hedged risk, together with the 
methods that will be used to assess the 
effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship.  
 
The Group makes an assessment, both 
at the inception of the hedge 
relationship as well as on an ongoing 
basis, whether the hedging 
instruments are expected to be highly 
effective in offsetting the changes in 
the fair value or cash flows of the 
respective hedged items during the 
period for which the hedge is 
designated, and whether the actual 
results of each hedge are within a 
range of 80–125 percent. For a cash 
flow hedge of a forecast transaction, 
the transaction should be highly 

probable to occur and should present 
an exposure to variations in cash flows 
that could ultimately affect reported 
net income. 
 
Derivatives are recognised initially at 
fair value; attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivatives are measured 
at fair value and changes therein are 
accounted for as described below. 
 
Cash flow hedges 
When a derivative is designated as the 
hedging instrument in a hedge of the 
variability in cash flows attributable to 
a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction that 
could affect profit or loss, the effective 
portion of changes in the fair value of 
the derivative is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and presented 
in the hedging reserve in equity. Any 
ineffective portion of changes in the 
fair value of the derivative is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
When the hedged item is a non-
financial asset, the amount recognised 
in equity is included in the carrying 
amount of the asset when the asset is 
recognised. In other cases the amount 
accumulated in equity is reclassified to 
profit or loss in the same period that 
the hedged item affects profit or loss.  
If the hedging instrument no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, or the 
designation is revoked, then hedge 
accounting is discontinued 
prospectively. If the forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, then the balance in equity is 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Other non-trading derivatives 
When a derivative financial instrument 
is not designated in a hedge 
relationship that qualifies for hedge 
accounting, all changes in its fair value 
are recognised immediately in profit  
or loss. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
 
Fair value – land, buildings and 
improvements 
Land, buildings and improvements are 
initially measured at cost. Following 
initial recognition at cost, land, 
buildings and improvements are 
measured on a fair value basis as 
determined by a director’s valuation. 
 
An external, independent valuation 
company, having appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications 
and recent experience in the location 
and category of property being valued, 
values properties within the Group’s 
portfolio on a rotational basis to 
ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s 
fair value at the balance sheet date. 
Fair value is determined by reference 
to market values, being the estimated 
amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and willing 
seller in an arm’s length transaction 
after proper marketing wherein the 
parties had each acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion.  
At each reporting date, the value of 
each asset in these classes is reviewed 
to ensure that it does not materially 
differ from the asset’s fair value at that 
date. Where necessary, the asset is 
revalued to reflect its fair value. 
 
A revaluation increment is credited to 
the asset revaluation reserve in equity 
unless it reverses a revaluation 
decrement of the same asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss. 
 
A revaluation decrement is recognised 
in profit or loss unless it directly offsets 
a previous increment of the same asset 
in the asset revaluation reserve.  
In addition, any accumulated 
depreciation as at revaluation date is 
eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset. 
 

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being 
sod is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Cost – plant and equipment 
Items of plant and equipment are 
measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost  
of materials and direct labour, any 
other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working 
condition for their intended use, the 
costs of dismantling and removing the 
items and restoring the site on which 
they are located, and capitalised 
borrowing costs.  
 
Cost also may include transfers from 
equity of any gain or loss on qualifying 
cash flow hedges of foreign currency 
purchases of property, plant and 
equipment. Purchased software that is 
integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment. 
 
When parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
Any gains and losses on disposal of an 
item of property, plant and equipment 
(calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the 
carrying amount of the item) is 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 

(ii) Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing a part of an item 
of plant and equipment is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the item if it 
is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group, and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of plant and 
equipment are recognised in profit  
or loss as incurred. 
 
(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated over the 
depreciable amount, which is the  
cost of an asset, or other amount 
substituted for cost, less its  
residual value. 
 
Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis in profit or loss  
over the estimated useful lives of each 
component since this most closely 
reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset. Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease term and their useful lives 
unless it is reasonably certain that the 
Group will obtain ownership by the 
end of the lease term.  
 
The estimated useful lives for the 
current and comparative years of 
significant items of property, plant  
and equipment are as follows: 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.  
 

2012 2011

Plant and equipment 5–12 years 5–12 years

Plant and equipment  
under lease 2–5 years 2–5 years

Motorised equipment 8–15 years 8–15 years
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3. Significant accounting 
policies 
continued 
Property, plant and equipment 
continued 
 
(iv) Pastoral leases 
The Group has pastoral leases in the 
Northern Territory, Queensland and 
Western Australia. The Northern 
Territory leases are either pastoral 
lease for term with right to apply for 
extension or perpetual pastoral 
lease. The Queensland and Western 
Australia leases are fixed term with 
the right to apply for a new lease at 
the expiration of the term of the 
existing lease. 
 
Intangible assets 
(i) Goodwill/discount on 
acquisition 
Goodwill (discount on acquisition) 
arises on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries, associates and jointly 
controlled entities. 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of 
the cost of the acquisition over the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of the 
acquiree. 
 
Goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  
In respect of equity accounted 
investees, the carrying amount of 
goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment. 
 
Biological assets 
Biological assets are comprised of 
livestock (cattle and horses) and are 
measured at fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs, with 
any change therein recognised in 
profit or loss. Point-of-sale costs 
include all costs that would be 
necessary to sell the assets (eg. road 
transport costs, agent commissions). 
 

An external, independent valuation 
company, having appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications 
and recent experience in the location 
and nature of cattle held by the Group 
performs a valuation for the reporting 
date. Fair value is determined by 
reference to market values for cattle of 
similar age, weight, breed and genetic 
make-up. The fair value represents the 
estimated amount for which cattle 
could be sold on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and willing 
seller in an arm’s length transaction 
after proper marketing wherein the 
parties had each acted knowledgably, 
prudently and without compulsion. 
 
Leased assets 
Leases in terms of which the Group 
assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. On initial recognition 
the leased asset is measured at an 
amount equal to the lower of its fair 
value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the asset is 
accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to that 
asset.  
 
Other leases are operating leases and 
are not recognised in the Group’s 
statement of financial position. 
 
Impairment 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
A financial asset not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss is assessed 
at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence 
that it is impaired. A financial asset is 
impaired if there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset, and that 
the loss event had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 

Objective evidence that financial 
assets (including equity securities) are 
impaired includes default or 
delinquency by a debtor, restructuring 
of an amount due to the Group on 
terms that the Group would not 
consider otherwise, indications that a 
debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, 
the disappearance of an active market 
for a security. In addition, for an 
investment in an equity security, a 
significant or prolonged decline in its 
fair value below its cost is objective 
evidence of impairment.  
 
The Group considers evidence of 
impairment for receivables and 
held-to-maturity investment securities 
at both a specific asset and collective 
level. All individually significant assets 
are assessed for specific impairment. 
Those found not to be specifically 
impaired are then collectively assessed 
for any impairment that has been 
incurred but not yet identified.  
 
In assessing collective impairment the 
Group uses historical trends of the 
probability of default, timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss 
incurred, adjusted for management’s 
judgement as to whether current 
economic and credit conditions are 
such that the actual losses are likely to 
be greater or less than suggested by 
historical trends.  
 
An impairment loss in respect of a 
financial asset measured at amortised 
cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognised in profit or loss and 
reflected in an allowance account 
against receivables. Interest on the 
impaired asset continues to be 
recognised through the unwinding of 
the discount. When an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised 
causes the amount of impairment loss 
to decrease, the decrease in 
impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss.  
 
(ii) Non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
non financial assets, other than 
biological assets and deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.  
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or 
CGU is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or CGUs.  
 
The Group’s corporate assets do not 
generate separate cash inflows. If there 
is an indication that a corporate asset 
may be impaired, then the recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to 
which the corporate asset belongs. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its CGU 
exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.  
Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of CGUs are allocated to 
reduce the carrying amount of assets 
in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro 
rata basis. 
 

Impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
Employee benefits 
(i) Defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a 
post-employment benefit plan under 
which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity 
and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in profit or loss in the periods 
during which services are rendered by 
employees. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available. 
Contributions to a defined contribution 
plan that are due more than 12 months 
after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the service are 
discounted to their present value. 
 
(ii) Other long term employee 
benefits 
The Group’s net obligation in respect 
of long term employee benefits other 
than defined benefit plans is the 
amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior 
periods; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the 
fair value of any related assets is 
deducted.  
 

(iii) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are recognised as 
an expense when the Group is 
committed demonstrably, without 
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a 
formal detailed plan to either 
terminate employment before the 
normal retirement date, or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Termination benefits for 
voluntary redundancies are recognised 
as an expense if the Group has made 
an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is 
probable that the offer will be 
accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably. 
If benefits are payable more than 12 
months after the reporting date, then 
they are discounted to their present 
value. 
 
(iv) Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefit 
obligations are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed 
as the related service is provided. A 
liability is recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid under short term 
cash bonus or profit sharing plans if 
the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee, and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
Revenue 
(i) Livestock 
Revenue from the sale of livestock is 
measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised when the 
significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer, recovery of theconsideration 
is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be 
estimated reliably, there is no 
continuing management involvement 
with the goods, and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. 
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3. Significant accounting 
policies 
continued 
Revenue 
continued 
(i) Livestock 
continued  
 
The timing of the transfers of risks and 
rewards varies depending on the 
individual terms of the contract of sale. 
For export sales of cattle, usually 
transfer occurs when the product is 
received at the customer’s port. 
 
(ii) Change in fair value of biological 
assets 
Any increase or decrease in the fair 
value of biological assets is recognised 
as revenue in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The 
movement is determined as the 
difference between the net market 
value at the beginning and the end of 
the period adjusted for purchases and 
sales during the period. 
 
Leases 
Payments made under operating leases 
are recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of 
the lease. 
 
Minimum lease payments made under 
finance leases are apportioned 
between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance expense is allocated to 
each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. 
 
Contingent lease payments are 
accounted for by revising the minimum 
lease payments over the remaining 
term of the lease when the lease 
adjustment is confirmed. 
 

Finance income and finance costs 
Finance income comprises interest 
income on funds. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or 
loss, using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Finance costs comprise interest 
expense on borrowings, impairment 
losses recognised on financial assets, 
and losses on hedging instruments 
that are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly 
attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in profit 
or loss using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Foreign currency gains and losses are 
reported on a net basis. 
 
Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current 
and deferred tax. Current tax and 
deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity 
or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable 
or receivable on the taxable income or 
loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 
temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for: 
 
• temporary differences on the initial  
 recognition of assets or liabilities in  
 a transaction that is not a business  
 combination and that affects  
 neither accounting nor taxable  
 profit or loss; and 
 

• temporary differences related to  
 investments in subsidiaries and  
 jointly controlled entities to the  
 extent that it is probable that they  
 will not reverse in the foreseeable  
 future. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they 
reverse, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting 
date.  
 
In determining the amount of current 
and deferred tax the Group takes into 
account the impact of uncertain tax 
positions and whether additional taxes 
and interest may be due. The Company 
believes that its accruals for tax 
liabilities are adequate for all open tax 
years based on its assessment of many 
factors, including interpretations of tax 
law and prior experience. This 
assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series 
of judgements about future events. 
New information may become 
available that causes the Group to 
change its judgement regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; 
such changes to tax liabilities will 
impact tax expense in the period that 
such a determination is made. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a 
net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for 
unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax 

assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Additional income tax expenses that 
arise from the distribution of cash 
dividends are recognised at the same 
time that the liability to pay the related 
dividend is recognised. The Company 
does not distribute non-cash assets as 
dividends to its shareholders. 
 
(i) Tax consolidation 
The Company and its wholly-owned 
Australia resident entities are part of a 
tax-consolidated group. As a 
consequence, all members of the 
tax-consolidated group are taxed as a 
single entity. The head entity within 
the tax-consolidated group is Lake 
Woods Holdings Pty Limited.  
 
Current tax expense/income, deferred 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
arising from temporary differences of 
the members of the tax-consolidated 
group are recognised in the separate 
financial statements of the members 
of the tax-consolidated group using 
the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ 
approach by reference to the carrying 
amounts of the assets and liabilities in 
the separate financial statements of 
each entity and their tax values 
applying under tax consolidation. 
 
Any current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the subsidiaries 
are assumed by the head entity of the 
tax-consolidated group and are 
recognised as amounts payable 
(receivable) to other entities in the 
tax-consolidated group in conjunction 
with any tax funding arrangement 
amounts (refer below). Any difference 
between these amounts is recognised 
by the Company as an equity 
contribution from or distribution to the 
head entity. 
 
The Company recognises deferred tax 
assets arising from unused tax losses 

of the tax-consolidated group to the 
extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits of the tax-consolidated 
group will be available against which 
the assets can be utilised. The 
Company assesses the recovery of its 
unused tax losses and tax credits only 
in the period in which they arise, and 
before assumption by the head entity, 
in accordance with AASB 112 applied 
in the context of the tax-consolidated 
group. Any subsequent period 
adjustments to deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses as a 
result of revised assessments of the 
probability of recoverability are 
recognised by the head entity only. 
 
(ii) Nature of tax funding 
arrangement and tax sharing 
agreements 
The head entity, in conjunction with 
other members of the tax-consolidated 
group, has entered into a tax funding 
arrangement which sets out the 
funding obligations of members of the 
tax-consolidated group in respect of 
tax amounts. The tax funding 
arrangements require payments to/
from the head entity equal to the 
current tax liability (asset) assumed by 
the head entity and any tax-loss 
deferred tax asset assumed by the 
head entity, resulting in the head entity 
recognising an inter-entity receivable/
(payable) equal in amount to the tax 
liability/(asset) assumed. The inter-
entity receivables/(payables) is at call. 
 
Contributions to fund the current tax 
liabilities are payable as per the tax 
funding arrangement and reflect the 
timing of the head entity’s obligation 
to make payments for tax liabilities to 
the relevant tax authorities. 
 
The head entity, in conjunction with 
other members of the tax-consolidated 
group, has also entered into a tax 
sharing agreement. The tax sharing 
agreement provides for the 
determination of the allocation of 
income tax liabilities between the 
entities should the head entity default 

on its tax payment obligations. No 
amounts have been recognised in the 
financial statements in respect of this 
agreement as payment of any amounts 
under the tax sharing agreement is 
considered remote. 
 
Goods and services tax 
Revenue, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated 
with the amount of GST included. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO is included as a 
current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position.  
 
Cash flows are included in the 
statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. 
 
New standards and interpretations 
not yet adopted 
A number of new standards, 
amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 
2012, and have not been applied in 
preparing these financial statements. 
None of these is expected to have a 
significant effect on the financial 
statements of the Group, except for 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, which 
becomes mandatory for the Group’s 
2016 financial statements and could 
change the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The 
Group does not plan to adopt this 
standard early and the extent of the 
impact has not been determined. 
 

54 55Section 6 – Financial statements and notes

continued
Notes to the financial statements



As at 31 December 2012

4. Determination of fair 
values 
 
A number of the Group’s accounting 
policies and disclosures require the 
determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non financial assets and 
liabilities. Fair values have been 
determined for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. When applicable, 
further information about the 
assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific 
to that asset or liability. 
 
(i) Property, plant and equipment 
The fair value property, plant and 
equipment recognised as a result of a 
business combination is based on 
market values. The market value of 
property is the estimated amount for 
which a property could be exchanged 
on the date of valuation between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had 
each acted knowledgeably, and 
willingly. The market value of items of 
plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings 
is based on the market approach and 

cost approaches using quoted market 
prices for similar items when available 
and replacement cost when 
appropriate. 
 
As disclosed in note 3, land, buildings 
and improvements are measured at 
fair value. An external independent 
valuation company, having appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications 
and recent experience in the location 
and category of property being valued, 
values properties held by the Group. 
 
(ii) Biological assets 
As disclosed in note 3, the fair value of 
livestock held for sale is based on the 
market price of livestock of similar age, 
breed, condition and genetic make-up. 
An external, independent valuation 
company, having appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications 
and recent experience in the location 
and nature of cattle held by the Group 
performs a valuation for the reporting 
date. 
 
(iii) Derivatives 
The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is based on their listed 
market price, if available. If a listed 
market price is not available, then fair 

value is estimated by discounting the 
difference between the contractual 
forward price and the current forward 
price for the residual maturity of the 
contract using a credit adjusted 
risk-free interest rate (based on 
government bonds). 
 
The fair value of interest rate swaps is 
based on broker quotes. Those quotes 
are tested for reasonableness by 
discounting estimated future cash 
flows based on the terms and maturity 
of each contract and using market 
interest rates for a similar instrument 
at the measurement date. Fair values 
reflect the credit risk of the instrument 
and include adjustments to take 
account of the credit risk of the 
Company and counterparty when 
appropriate. 
 
(iv) Impairment 
As disclosed in the statement of 
comprehensive income, the fair value 
of certain properties carried as 
property plant and equipment have 
been impaired this financial period. 
This impairment charge is in response 
to valuations performed by 
independent property valuers  
(detailed above).

 

Consolidated Company

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

6. Revenue
Cattle revenue including revaluation reserve 47,067 67,409 - -

47,067 67,409 - -

7. Other income

Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries - 7,646 - -

Sundry income 3,838 3,129 - -

Rental property from property subleases 450 847 - -

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 300 -

4,588 11,622 - -

8. Other expenses

Transport expenses 4,151 4,083 - -

Fuel 2,855 2,728 - -

Corporate and administrative expenses 7,383 2,917 - 38

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment - 166 - -

14,389 9,894 - 38

9. Finance income and finance costs

Interest income on loans to subsidiaries - - 17,572 15,322

Interest income on bank deposits 584 443 1 12

Finance income 584 443 17,573 15,334

Net foreign exchange loss 659 216 - -

Bank charges 462 474 - -

Interest expense on financial liabilities  
measured at amortised cost

17,277 17,448 - -

Finance costs 18,398 18,138 - -

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (17,814) (17,695) 17,573 15,334

Consolidated Company
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2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$ 

5. Auditors’ remuneration

Audit services 

KPMG Australia

Audit of financial statements 123,664 119,192 - -

123,664 119,192 - -

Other services

KPMG Australia

Taxation and other services – Australia 31,265 15,250 - -

31,265 15,250 - -

Total Auditors’ remuneration 154,929 134,442 - -



As at 31 December 2012

Consolidated Company

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

10. Income tax expense

Current tax expense

Current period (10,745) - - -

Adjustment relating to prior periods (390) - - -

(11,135) - - -

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,633) 2,917 5,272 4,588

(4,633) 2,917 5,272 4,588

Total tax expense (15,768) 2,917 5,272 4,588

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax (loss)/profit

Profit for the period (35,587) 12,470 12,301 10,708

Total income tax expense/(benefit) (15,768) 2,917 5,272 4,588

Profit excluding income tax (51,335) 15,387 17,573 15,296

Income tax expense at 30% (2011: 30%) (15,401) 4,616 5,272 4,588

Non-deductible expenses 183 (1,689) - -

Tax exempt income (110) - - -

Expenses allowed for tax (50) - - -

Under /(over) provision from prior years (390) - - -

(15,768) 2,927 5,272 4,588

Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income

Cash flow hedges

Before tax (922) (6,933) - -

Tax expense 276 2,080 - -

Net of tax (646) (4,853) - -

Revaluation reserve

Before tax (640) 280 - -

Tax expense 192 (84) - -

Net of tax (448) 196 - -

Consolidated Company

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

11. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables 6,247 14,516 - -

Receivables due from subsidiaries - - 57,311 39,739

6,247 14,516 57,311 39,739

Non-current

Loans to subsidiaries - - 271,789 235,789

Other receivables 5,549 6,562 - -

5,549 6,562 271,789 235,789

12. Biological assets
Livestock 256,626 252,843 - -

Balance at 31 December 256,626 252,843 - -

13. Inventories
Raw materials, feedstocks and consumables 2,072 2,240 - -

2,072 2,240 - -

14. Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land, at fair value 93,597 94,532 - -

Freehold buildings and improvements, at fair value 7,473 7,088 - -

101,070 101,620 - -

Leasehold properties, at fair value 312,341 346,782 - -

Plant and equipment, at cost 15,583 12,977 - -

Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,110) (4,835) - -

9,473 8,142 - -

Total property, plant and equipment 422,884 456,544 - -

15. Investments in subsidiaries

Non-current 

Investments in subsidiaries - - 95,846 83,846

- - 95,846 83,846

16. Other assets

Current

Other assets 1,117 1,976 - -

1,117 1,976 - -

Non-current -

Security deposit 15,000 15,000 - -

15,000 15,000 - -
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Consolidated Company

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

17. Trade and other payables
Current

Trade payables 2,897 2,922 - -

Other payables and accrued expenses 11,821 9,177 96 -

14,718 12,099 96 -

Non-current

Other payables - 151 - -

- 151 - -

18. Loans and borrowings
Non-current  

Secured bank loans 237,500 275,500 - -

Loans from subsidiaries - - 61,182 44,947

237,500 275,500 61,182 44,947

Secured bank loans are secured by a first ranking security over the assets and undertakings of Consolidated Pastoral 
Company Pty Limited and its subsidiaries via fixed and floating charges and guarantees by that company and its subsidiaries 
as well as limited third party charges from other subsidiaries from within the group.

20. Employee benefits
Current

Annual leave 488 664 - -

Long service leave 360 390 - -

848 1,054 - -

Non-current -

Long service leave - 194 - -

- 194 - -

21. Capital and reserves 
On issue at 1 January 320,934 281,531 320,934 281,531

Issued for cash 48,000 39,403 48,000 39,403

On issue at 31 December 368,934 320,934 368,934 320,934

Consolidated Company

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000 

22(a). Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances 2,866 3,029 126 33

Petty cash 10 6 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 2,876 3,035 126 33

22(b). Reconciliation of cash flows from 
operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/ profit for the period (35,587) 12,470 12,301 10,708

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 4,499 4,083 - -

(Gain)/Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (300) 166 - -

(Decrement)/Increment in net market value of livestock 3,909 (25,651) - -

(Revaluation)/Write down of properties 33,611 (4,729) - -

Share of profit of equity accounted investees (366) (778) - -

Tax (benefit)/ expense (15,768) 2,917 5,272 4,588

(10,002) (11,522) 17,573 15,296

Change in trade and other receivables 9,282 (3,840) (17,572) (15,031)

Change in inventories (3,752) (570) - -

Change in other assets (859) 1,488 - (15,405)

Change in trade and other payables (927) (2,870) 92 15,160

Change in employee benefits (400) 547 - -

Change in deferred income 427 196 - -

Net cash from operating activities (6,231) (16,571) 93 20

Ordinary shares  
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Dividends 
No dividends were declared or paid during the period. 

Hedging reserve 
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedges  
related to hedged transactions that have not yet affected profit or loss.

Revaluation reserve 
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

Dividend franking account 
Amount of franking credits available to shareholders of                             2012                     2011 
Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited for subsequent financial years                        - -

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon the ability to declare dividends. In accordance with the tax 
consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax-consolidated group has also assumed the franking  
credits of the members of that group.
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25. Subsequent event 
 
There have been no events subsequent to balance date which would have a material effect on the 
Company’s financial report at 31 December 2012.  

26. Contingencies

During the normal course of business, the Group is involved in legal claims and litigations. There 
is significant uncertainty as to whether a future liability will arise in respect of these items. The 
amount of liability, if any, which may arise cannot be measured reliably at this time. The Directors 
are of the opinion that all known liabilities have been brought to account and that adequate 
provision has been made for any anticipated losses.
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23. Capital commitments
The Group and Company did not have any capital commitments at period end. 

24. Group entities
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership 

interest (%)

Parent entity

Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited Australia

Significant subsidiaries

Lake Woods Group Pty Limited Australia 100

Lake Woods Acquisitions Pty Limited Australia 100

Consolidated Pastoral Company Pty Limited Australia 100

Consolidated Pastoral Property Pty Limited Australia 100

Baines River Cattle Company Pty Limited Australia 100

Laverton Nominees Pty Limited Australia 100

Crosswalk Pty Limited Australia 100

CPC (China) Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100

Directors’ declaration

In the opinion of the directors of Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited (“the Company”): 
 
 (a)  the Company and Group are not reporting entities; 
 
 (b)  the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 4 to 31, are in accordance with the  
   Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
    (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as 
      at 31 December 2012 and of their performance, as represented by the results of  
     their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date in 
     accordance with the statement of compliance and basis of preparation described in  
     Notes 1 and 2; and 
 
    (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian  
     Accounting Interpretations) to the extent described in Notes 1 and 2, and the  
     Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
 (c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group will be able to pay its 
   debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 
 

[Chris Evans] [Fergal Leamy]  
Director  Chief Executive Officer and Director

 

Dated at Brisbane this  17th day of April 2013
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As at 31 December 2012

Independent audit report to the members of Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited  

 
We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of Lake 
Woods Holdings Pty Limited (the Company), which comprises the statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2012, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 26 comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of 
the Company comprising the Company at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.  
 
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 2 to 
the financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and is 
appropriate to meet the needs of the members. The directors’ responsibility also includes such 
internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. These procedures have been 
undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly 
in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 2 to the financial statements so as to 
present a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Company’s financial 
position, and of their performance. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(‘KPMG International”). a Swiss entity. Liability limited 
by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 
Legislation

Independent audit report to the members of Lake Woods Holdings Pty Limited 
(continued)  
 
Independence  
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Auditor’s opinion  
In our opinion the financial report of Lake Woods Holdings Pty Ltd is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  
 
 (a)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2012  
  and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and  
 
 (b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 2  
  and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  
 
Basis of Accounting  
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial report, which 
describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of 
fulfilling the directors’ financial reporting responsibilities under the Corporations Act 2001.  
As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose.

KPMG
 

Matthew McCarron 
Partner 
 
Sydney 
17 April 2013
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Contact Information

Annual report designed by Tania Warriner. Photography by Richard Waite, Tania Warriner, Ross Eason and Matt Bolam.
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Registered Office:

Consolidated Pastoral Company Pty Ltd

Newcastle Waters Station

Newcastle Waters NT 0862

P: +61 8 8964 4527

F: +61 8 8964 4533

 

Corporate Office:

Level 2/72 Newmarket Road

Windsor QLD 4030

P: +61 7 3174 5200

F: +61 7 3174 5381 
 
 

www.pastoral.com


